I thank you for the opportunity to discuss these issues which are very troubling to me. Before I detail some of the issues, I should note that my priorities in this affair are in order

1) A transition from Syracuse to Florida State that is viewed as honorable by my colleagues and sponsors. 

2) Preserving the ability to perform research in areas that I started here without significant impediments from “confidentiality”, “trade secret”, and “non-compete” requirements of commercial activities based on NPAC research of which I am and was Principal Investigator.

3) Any fiscal rewards of commercialization that could be appropriate.

The commercialization process with the company WebWisdom.com has two features that affect the items 1) and 2) above. Firstly there is the granting of the license (and some entangled patent and trademark issues) and secondly there are problems following from intermingling of commercial and research activities. A major difficulty for me at the moment is that the existing commercialization process only involves me  “as a courtesy” even though commercialization appears to have significant impact both on my future ability to do research and on my current responsibilities as a principal investigator. 

The license is being re-negotiated now between the University and WebWisdom.com as the original one (March 1998) is very ambiguous. Unfortunately the latest version appears to me and two lawyers that I consulted not to address key issues and as written does not clearly allow me to continue much of the research I started here. I would suggest that the University should more clearly state goals of license, be sensitive to the process of software systems research and then professionally prepare an amended license. I maybe an amateur in many areas but I do think the University should have some respect for my views as to the nature of research in the software area. I think I am an expert in this. The University can still chose to grant a license as now envisaged but should understand that it impacts me in a highly nontrivial fashion.

My legal advisers have recommended writing a letter to the University for I need to formally declare our view that current proposed license and related issues have flaws. I agonized over this but felt I had to approve this act – a sad event that I must apologize for and use as an illustration of my desperation. I made the letter as non-contentious as possible and I append it. I hope you will forgive me.

Up to now all funding of work on licensed technologies has come from grants of which I am principal investigator and correspondingly responsible to the government. Starting in August 1999, I have been in increasing conflict with my staff as I consider it inappropriate for exempt employees to be funded 100% by the government and yet do major work on company business. Maybe they only work hours 41 onwards each week for the company but in the past, NPAC like its peers nationally worked intensely on grants way after the official workweek. The net result is that the quality of NPAC research has suffered and now I as principal investigator must answer on this to the sponsors. The University so far has not in my opinion been helpful in this issue and their inaction has encouraged “Sweat Equity”, as WebWisdom.com likes to call this strategy. I do not see an honorable approach to this issue and believe that this situation will be damaging to all of us.

I have been advised by a colleague (to whom I sketched these issues confidentially) to be open with my sponsors. As he argues, how else can I explain my termination of well-regarded research and recent lack of performance by NPAC? I do not look forward to this discussion with my sponsors and view it as potentially negative for the University and me. 

As a final comment, let me tell you a little about the history. For many years I have struggled rather unsuccessfully to find a raison d’être and enterprise (business) model for NPAC and in particular some way to fund the infrastructure as I was not able to make much use of overhead funded support staff and systems. The University generously allowed me use of State funds (InfoMall) to fund the core operations. I supported commercialization as another approach that could be a more permanent and attractive solution. For reasons we can discuss another time, I found it hard to get the necessary Venture Capital or equivalent to make this successful. In February 1999, I was told that State funding for NPAC would be terminated in December 1999 and at that stage I started to look for another job for both myself and NPAC researchers who might want to leave. My “absentee landlord” status, consequent from my required attendance at many meetings outside Syracuse, contributed I am sure to what are to some extent management problems in NPAC. This was accentuated by the (apparent) vote of no confidence in NPAC by the University. NPAC staff became desperate and started looking at other options. In August 1999, I determined to accelerate the process, as the conflict between commercial and academic work became very apparent. 

At this stage, I must again apologize to you for asking your help in addressing issues stemming from my building NPAC as a “mansion built on sands” whose collapse was in hindsight inevitable. In looking to the past, my main regret is that I tried so hard. Once it became clear that the recession rendered our grand plans/intentions of 1989-1990 unrealizable, I should not have tried to go it alone with federal and state funds.

Yours respectfully

Geoffrey Fox

Letter sent to Syracuse University

Professor Benjamin Ware

Vice-President for Research and Computing

Syracuse University

Syracuse, NY 13244-1100

Re: Dr. Geoffrey Fox

Dear Professor Ware:

This office represents Dr. Geoffrey Fox and is assisting him in making an orderly and amicable transition from Syracuse University.  In that regard, we feel that the following issues should be addressed and discussed:

1. Meaning of License Agreement and proposed amendment to said Agreement between the University and WebWisdom.com.  These agreements could be subject to several interpretations.  Dr. Fox feels that it is critical that he is able to continue to do his research without any impediments and would like the License Agreements to make this clear. He believes that distinction between polished software reduced to practice and research software is not as black and white as license suggests. Rather there is a critical grey area where one can guess the result (correctly often if you are experienced) but need research to refine ideas. The license does not address this issue e.g. are you licensing his guesses (which are freely published)?

2. Trademarks and prior scholarship which you are investigating.  Should no clear agreed resolution be quickly reached, Dr. Fox feels that the same should be addressed in the proposed amendment to the License Agreement.

3. Patents – issue 1. Syracuse University is employing a lawyer to prepare a potentially important patent in the area where much of his personal detailed work has been. However this lawyer is now asking him to urgently to sign something even though all agree that both content of patent and list of inventors is incomplete. Is this wise?

4. Patents – issue 2. The patent (especially with its proposed extensions) includes ideas clearly reduced to practice and those which he thinks are almost certainly correct but where the ideas need much more research to refine. Dr. Fox would like to pursue this research but is worried that inclusion of ideas in patents automatically gives them status of “reduction to practice” and hence effectively renders research problematical given current license. 

Very truly yours,



MACKENZIE SMITH LEWIS MICHELL & HUGHES, LLP

Carter H. Strickland
